
 

222 MCDANIEL AVENUE, B-1 ∙ PICKENS, SC 29671 ∙ 864.898.5856 ∙ WWW.CO.PICKENS.SC.US  

             
 

           
 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 

CHRIS BOWERS, CHAIRMAN 
ROY COSTNER, VICE CHAIRMAN 

ALEX SAITTA, VICE CHAIR PRO-TEM 
C. CLAIBORNE LINVILL 

CHRIS LOLLIS 
HENRY WILSON 

COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR 

KEN ROPER 

 

CLERK TO COUNCIL 

MEAGAN NATIONS 

 

 

PICKENS COUNTY COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING 
Monday, May 15, 2023 

6:00 PM  
Main Conference Room, County Administration Facility 

222 McDaniel Avenue, Pickens SC 29671 
 

 

All meetings of Pickens County Council are held in accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, 
Section 30-4-70, et seq. of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended, as well as the Organizational 
Rules for Pickens County Council.  

 
 

1. WELCOME AND CALL TO ORDER:      Chairman Chris Bowers 
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:   Chairman Chris Bowers 

 
2. COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE: 

 
a. Log No. 213 – PICKENS COUNTY WATER AUTHORITY 

 
b. Log No. 80 – COUNTY RADIO SYSTEM  

 
c. Log No. 177 – AMERICAN RESCUE ACT FUNDING  

 
d. Log No. 215 – COUNCIL RULES  

 
 

3. ADJOURN 

http://www.co.pickens.sc.us/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 2c: 

AMERICAN RESCUE ACT FUNDING 

 













Answers to Questions for KICKSTART Application for ARPA Funding  
 
BHSPC applied and received two PPP Loan Forgiveness grants through the Provider 
Relief Funds.  Both grants have been forgiven completely.   
 
 
Behavioral Health Services of Pickens County has served citizens with substance abuse 
and behavioral health issues for over 47 years.  As a private non-profit organization, we 
utilize a sliding scale fee to offer affordable services to our patients.  We have been 
housed on Main Street of the city of Pickens for a very long time.  It has served us well, 
however, we have outgrown our space and are in need of relocation.   
 
BHSPC has been given the potential opportunity to purchase another single dwelling 
building that would offer us more space, better parking, and in a central location to our 
client population.  We are working to secure some funding through the State to assist in 
the purchase of the building, but will need some assistance in the up fitting of the building 
to accommodate our needs.  The estimated cost of the up fit is 2.7 to 3.8 million. 
 
At our present location we struggle with many different barriers to providing the best 
treatment possible.  One barrier, is that we are in three separate buildings and have to 
move back and forth between the three.  Another barrier is parking, we currently have 46 
staff members with 20 parking spaces, not to include the clients who attend services daily.  
Parking has been a significant issue for a long time.  Another barrier that has been made 
more significant through COVID has been group room space.  We are not able to serve 
our patients in a way we can socially distance in the space we currently have. The new 
location does allow for us to have larger spaces for individuals to spread out at a safe 
distance while continuing in the treatment services they desperately need.  
 
We have seen a significant decline in the mental and behavioral health of our citizens in 
Pickens County through COVID.  The amount of substance abuse, overdose, and mental 
illness is on the rise.   The pandemic has and will have lasting effects on our community.  
BHSPC provides those individuals a place to seek the services they need to address 
these issues.  
 
We would like to request financial assistance of $300,000 to assist in the up fitting of the 
new location. This money would be used to help with the identified needs of:  HVAC, 
Electrical, and roofing.  We currently own the building we have on Main Street and wish 
to sell them to allow for the City of Pickens to be able to bring in more retail and commerce 
to the downtown area.  We have submitted a letter of intent to the new location and are 
working to obtain the finances to purchase and begin renovations.   
 
Thank you so much for supporting our organization over the years and we are looking 
forward to continuing to serve our community for years to come.   
 
 
 



Behavioral Health Services provided needed treatment, prevention and intervention 
options for those who are struggling with substance abuse and behavioral health issues 
in our community.  We have a long standing relationship with the community.  
Substance abuse issues in our community continue to be a significant issue.  Through 
COVID those issues have only increased along with the mental and behavioral health of 
our citizens.  We are seeing more and more people entering services for the first time, 
with a significant substance abuse issue, and/r struggling to emotionally cope in today’s 
society.  Pickens County continues to be at the top of the list for overdoes and suicide 
for South Carolina.  Behavioral Health Services plans to use the funding to assist us in 
up fitting the purchase of a newer building. This will allow us to serve the citizens of 
Pickens County more efficiently. We are currently looking to purchase a building in 
Easley which will allow us to be more centrally located for our patient population and 
allow them to be served closer to other needed resources. Upon our vacancy of the 
existing four buildings on Main Street Pickens, this will allow Pickens City to bring in 
more commerce to the downtown area, which will strengthen the local community. 



KISK$TART
rnwilespmp

F i i 1,.Ir,; ri i r,ii,]i i

r'IOH.PNOFIT APPLICATICII{ FOR ARPA FU}I$IiNG

This program is intended to provide supplemental funrling for non-profit 0rganizati0ns with funds received

from the American Rescue Plan Acl per the foilowing category. llon-proflts' Assistance to non-

profit organizations, including loans, grants, in-kind assistance, technical assistance or other

services, ihat responds to the negative economic impacts of the coVtD-19 pubtic health emergency'

Have you applied for other Federal or state coVlD-1 9 funding (loans and/or grants) to date?

fiv.r E *o

lf yes, please list and provide status.

SUELIFICATI$H &UE$TI(}!I$:

if you answer No to any of the following questions, then yor.rr organlzatio* d*ee nol qualify for thls grant'

ls the non-profit in good standing and reglstered with the stats sf $outh Carolina?

flv*u E**
rs the nan-profit in good standing with pickens county, i.e. currenfly {ree from defaurt or derinquency on any loans

on any taxes, fee$ or other charges owed?

ffiv*u No

Does the non-profit maintain a physical locationladdress in Pickens County {PO Boxes nct acceptabie}?

flv*u I*o
Has the non-profit suffered adverse econor*ic in'rpacts frorn.?.!YtD-1P or oth*r relaled circurnstancss that impact

the non-profit,s ability tu pinou* prograffis andioiseniees AtlD has the documentation to verify these impacts?

ffives I*o

Please see attached.



Have you applied for other Federal or State COVID'|$ funding (loans and/or grants)to date?

lf yes, please list and provide status'

pickens county Habitat for Humanity was awarded a GARES Act Small Business Administration

paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan for 527,635' The full amount of the loan was forgiven with

no repayment required on February L2,202I'



ORGANIZATION PROFILE

Organization 5u*.' Pickens County Habitat for Humanity

raxtDtElN: 57 -A7257A2

Street AddressiPhysical 1-o.r1ion' 309 East Cedar Rock Street

city, Pickens state: SC ziP:29671
rlL[. 

=

(rgffififJ 864-878-6374 website: www'pickenshabitat'ors

ContactNam., Jill Evans -rn,r. Executive Director

ff,S,ftl*, ,,. ,uo-olo'rrr, s*ui. jillevans@pickenshabitat'ors
PhoneNufnber: 

vv- rvv Evv- Elllctrl'

Please see attached.

Typeof Nonprofit (seruceprovioea.l 
affordable housing Yearestablis6s6' 1981

ac1
Cunentnumberof employe.r, 3 Full-time z Parttime-

Facititysize: 
400 (room in Grace UMC) squareFeet INn

501(c): 57-0725702

please describe any adverse impacts covlD-19 has had on your organization and how your organization plans to

use the ARPA fundi (attach additional pages if necessary):

(MUii coMpLErE iHts oursloN To BE ELTSBLE FoR FUNDING)



please describe any adverse impacts corlD-1g has had on your organization and how your organization

;i;;; d;;;gre eipl funds (atiach additionat pases if necessary):

(MUSTCoMPLETETHISQUE.STIoNToBEELIGIBLEFoRFUNDING)

The housing crisis in America has reached unprecedented levels of disparity, further compounded by the

covlD-19 pandemic during which millions became unemployed and were suddenly confined to their homes -

homes that for poverty-stricken peopre are often unsafe and substandard. Nowhere in south carolina can an

individuarworking a fuil-time, minimum wage job afford to rent a two-bedroom apartment. rn Pickens

county, 32% ofall residents are renters, and 48%of those renters are spendin g3o% or more of their

household income on housing. lndividuals and families who can afford rent in Pickens county are often

working multiple jobs and paying high rent for low-quality housing' The need for affordable and decent

housing is rampant, as evidenced by the 200+ families seeking housing applications from our organization

each year.

pickens county Habitat for Humanity (pcHFH) aims to meet the growing housing need by building three to

four safe and affordabre homes annuaily with vorunteer rabor; however, dwindring affordabre properties in

pickens county, the impact of the pandemic, and ongoing financial strain to our nonprofit are major

hindrances to adequately meet this need'

r A current national surge in the cost of raw building materials and decline in overall supply is

challenging PCHFH's ability to build affordable homes for low-to-moderate income families' since the

costtobuildthehomeispassedontothehomeownerinamortgage'Risingpricesarecausingthe
sales price of our Habitat homes to increase. Lumber has nearly tripled in price, flooring and paint

have climbe d 8o%,and contractor costs, for the few professional sub-contractors we use' have also

increased.

o Two in-person fundraising events were cancelled, contributing to a more than 10% decline in

donations, as well as missed opportunities to gain new donors'

pCHFH,s annual Clemson University Homecoming Build had to be moved off-campus in 2020 due to

the cancellation of Homecoming activities by the University. Extreme restrictions on volunteer count

limited public visibility and subsequently reduced donations for that home'

Several PCHFH homeowners lost income due to COVID-19, affecting their ability to pay their

mortgages,thereby diminishing PCHFH's monthly cash flow that is used to build more houses for

additional families in need.

several philanthropic foundations were unable to provide traditional grant funding to PCHFH due

totheir own lack of funding during the pandemic'

Following cDC and Habitat for Humanity lnternational guidelines, PCHFH severely limited on-

site volunteer work during the pandemic, impacting construction progress of our homes in

2020,202!, and continuing to date in 2022'



How Pickens countv Habitat for Humanitv will use ARPA funds:

pcHFH currently owns only six buildabre lots in pickens county. Land costs in Pickens county have steadily

increased over the last several years, increasing from an average of $7,000 per PCHFH-purchased lot to now

typically a minimum of S15,000 per lot'

As construction costs rise and the housing need grows, pcHFH remains responsible for financing the building

of 3 to 4 homes annually with limited resources and funding opportunities'

pickens county Habitat for Humanity and the families we serve would benefit greatly from any means

of financial support through ARPA funding by the County of Pickens' PCHFH would welcome the

opportunity to explain the following options or explore other avenues of support:

t. 510,000 will purchase kitchen cabinets and countertops, plusvanities for two bathrooms'

2. $17,000 will purchase one lot for a Habitat home build. (lncludes closing costs')

3. S34,OOO will purchase two lots for Habitat home builds. (includes closing costs')

4. s5O,O00 will cover the cost of the framing package for one Habitat house, plus the cost of the

following sub-contractor fees: footing/foundation installation; roofing; drywall finishing; HVAC

installation; electrical a nd plumbing rough-in'

5. $100,000 will provide all materials needed for one Habitat house.



prease describe how you wiil use the funds, if awarded, in accordance with any of the following goals of Pickens

County Council:

1) Provide efficient essential services

2) Protect and enhance our unique nature

3) Promote a culture of public service

4) Deliver prompt and effective emergency response

5) Strengthen our resilient local economy

Please see attached.



please describe how you will use the funds, if awarded, in accordance with any of the following goals of

Pickens CountY Council:

1 ) Provide efficient essential services

2i Protect and enhance our unique nature

3i Promote a culture of public service

4) Deliver prompt and effective emergency response

5) Strengthen our resilient local economy

pickens county Habitat for Humanity,s affordabre housing program strengthens pickens county's resilient local

economy by turning renters into homeowners, who in turn become more productive citizens contributing to the

county,s property tax base. For example , in ZOlO,Pickens county Habitat for Humanity partner families paid

approximately 515,000 in property taxes'

The south carolina Association of Habitat Affiliates completed an Economic lmpact Analysis of Pickens county

Habitat for Humanity's (PCHFH) work during fiscal year 2020' This analysis found:

. $516,700 was invested in the economy by PCHFH's work;

. For every doilar invested by pcHFH, an additionar 36 cents were injected into the rocar economy, amounting to

a return on investment of $1'36'
rForeverydollardonated,$3'T3wasaddedtothelocaleconomy'

pickens county Habitat for Humanity offers local low-to-moderate-income families a "hand up"' not a "hand

out" by partnering with them to construct safe, stable, and affordable homes' The benefits of

homeownership are well documented and include:

r lncreased wealth - research has shown a correlation between homeownership and increased wealth'

with each year of homeownership tending to be associated with an additional 59,500 in net wealth' on

average.

o Stability - because homeowners stay in their homes for longer periods of time, they are more likely to

form relationships with their neighbors and are more invested in their community'

r Community lnvestment - homeowners are more invested in their properties, and thus, in their

neighborhood, which makes for a more stable and close-knit community'

r Health - individuals often feel more at peace and in control of their environment when they own their

own home. studies have found that the sense of control that results from homeownership contributes

to Positive mental health'

o Achievement -there is a positive correlation between homeownership and children's academic

achievement. A stable home life for children positively impacts their academic performance'

Sources:

1) www.habitat.ore/

Habitat for HumanitY (cohfh'ore}

3) FY2O2O economic impoct anolysis conducted by Hobitot for Humanity south corolina' utilizing

I M P LAN economic m odeli ng softw ore'

2\



SouTHCARoLINAFREEDoMoFINFoRMATIoNAcTDISCLoSURE

I understand that any document deemed a public record by said law is subject to disclosure in response to a request under

,uiO fu*. (Please iniiiat witn your legal, typed or inked initials)'

Applicant lnitials: JE W
By signing this application, I certify the following under penalty of perjury:

1. The information contained in this application is true and complete to the best of my knowledge, information and

belief,

2. t understand that funds may NoT be used for: activities that promote a religious doctrine; payment of debts or legal

setlements; political or partisan purpor.r; or funding to schools and/or public agencies that would supplant tax

suPPorted mandated services'

3. I agree to maintain documentation for five years following generally accepted accounting principles for how the

funds are .*p.no.o, including but not limited to financial records, or receipts'

4. I understand and agree that records of how grant funds are used must be produced promptly upon receiving a

request from the federal government, the stite of south carolina or Pickens county and are subject to audit'

5. I understand and agree that if I receive a grant and I do not use all of the funds for authorized purposes, I will return

those funds.

6. I understand and agree that if I receive a grant and it is determined that I have used the funds for a purpose which

is not authorir.J nf tn. American Rescue Plan Act, I will return those funds'

7 . I understand and agree that if the nonprofit, which is currently operating, closes permanently before receiving the

grant or, if the organization is currentty ctosed and does not open within 30 days I must return the grant'

B. I agree to indemnify and hold harmless pickens county, its directors, officers and employees, for any grant funds

the organization receives trom picreni county that the federal government, the state of south carolina or Pickens

Countydetermineswerenotusedforeligibleexpenditures.

9' l certify that l have the authority to legally bind the organization,

APPLICANT SIGNATURE

By signing below, the applicant represents, wanants and certifies that the information provided hereinis true, conect'

and complete. I also understand that this application, combined with award of a grant,constitute a binding contractwhich

may be executed in counterparts and shall be deemed a valid originalinstrument if delivered electronically (e'g ', facsimile'

PDF, inkordigital stamP, etc.).

^.!-!) 
d*n*

nfftndrizeo Si g neri okqr

Feb.3,2022

Date

Jill Evans

Print Name

Pickens County Habitat for Humanity

0rganization Name



PPORTII.TG DOCUiIEHTATIO}I

,/ . Fufiy+ompleied ft]ped) appheqlion ftandr,rniten applieations witl notle accepted];

J o Form gg0 from 1020 tax filing orother officiat documentation verifuing IRS Nonprotitdesignation;

V . CompletedtV$fur,n;

{ . Completed vendor Registrali6n; httpq://ess,pickenscountvsc.us/MS$ffendorslReqi$tration/Del

Queslisns? contact Meagan Natiiqns at Ingaganb(@co.pickens.sc.us

DEADUNE: 5:00Plrt FSruary 4n

































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No. 2d: 

COUNCIL RULES 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ORGANIZATIONAL RULES FOR 

PICKENS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Effective Date: 05/03/2021 



2  

 
 

 

 
RULE 1 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

AUTHORITY, USE, AND CITATION OF RULES ................................. 3 

RULE 2 COUNTY OFFICERS… ...................................................................... 4 

RULE 3 ETHICS… ........................................................................................ 8 

RULE 4 MEETINGS… ................................................................................. 10 

RULE 5 ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS… ............................................ 13 

RULE 6 COMMITTEES… ........................................................................... 17 

RULE 7 BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS ..................................................... 19 

RULE 8 PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE ................................................... 22 

APPENDIX PARLIAMENTARY TABLES ............................................................. i 



3  

RULE 1: AUTHORITY, USE, AND CITATION OF RULES 

1.1 Authority. These rules, upon adoption by County Council as biannually organized, 

shall govern the conduct of any and all meetings thereof, whether of the assembly as a whole, 

or of a committee thereof. 

1.2 Robert’s Rules. The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order 

Newly Revised shall govern the Council in all cases to which they are applicable and in which 

they are not inconsistent with these Organizational Rules or any special rules of order the 

Council, from time to time, may adopt. 

1.3 Citation. These Rules shall be entitled Organizational Rules of Pickens County 

Council, and may be cited by rule number and the letters “ORPCC”, i.e., Rule , ORPCC. 

1.4 Amendments. A proposed amendment to these rules shall be referred to the 

appropriate committee and, upon a report by this committee, may be adopted by the 

Council upon an affirmative vote of a majority of its members. 

1.5 History. Adopted by County Council October 7, 1991. Amended 1992, 1994, 1998, 

2005, 2006, 2007, 2009, and 2010. Recodified and adopted January 4, 2017. Further 

amended 2019 



4  

 

 
RULE 2: COUNTY OFFICERS 

2.1 The Council shall elect a Chair, Vice Chair, Vice Chair Pro Tempore, and such other 

officers as it may deem necessary for terms as hereinafter set forth, at the initial meeting of 

the Council in January following each General Election. 

A. Chair. The Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Chair for a term of two 

(2) years. Any vacancy in the Chair shall be filled by the Council for the un-expired 

portion of the term. The Chair shall preside at all regular and special meetings of the 

Council, shall execute, on behalf of the Council, all ordinances, resolutions, directives, 

bonds, and other official instruments or documents, and shall have such other duties 

and perform such functions as are set forth in these rules. The Chair shall exercise no 

authority over any elected officials of the county whose offices were created either by 

Constitution or by the general law of the state. 

B. Vice Chair. The Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Vice Chair for a two 

(2) year term; in the event that the Chair shall be temporarily absent or unable to 

serve, the Vice Chair shall serve as Chair in his/her stead and shall, during the time 

necessary for such service, carry the authority, powers, and responsibility of the 

Chair. In the event a vacancy occurs in the office of Chair, the Vice Chair will then 

become the Chair thereby, creating a vacancy in the position of Vice Chair to be filled 

by Council. 

C. Vice Chair Pro Tempore. The Council shall elect one of its members to serve as Vice 

Chair Pro Tempore for a two (2) year term for the purpose of conducting meetings of 

Council in the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair. In the event a vacancy occurs in 

the office of Vice Chair, the Vice Chair Pro Tempore will then become the Vice Chair 

thereby, creating a vacancy in the position of Vice Chair Pro Tempore to be filled by 

Council. 

D. No officer can serve more than two consecutive two-year terms in a particular 

office. Should the chairman’s office become vacant, the vice chairman will become 

the chairman and serve to the end of the unexpired term. At the same time, the vice-

chair pro tempore will become vice chairman and serve to the end of the unexpired 

term. An election for the vice-chair pro tempore will occur at the next regularly 

scheduled council meeting. If the vice-chairman’s office becomes vacant, the vice-

chair pro tempore will become the vice chairman to serve to the end of the 

unexpired terms. An election for the vice-chair pro tempore will occur at the next 

regularly scheduled council meeting. 

 

 

 



5  

2.2 Administrator. As provided by law, Council shall employ an Administrator, not a 

member of Council, who shall be the administrative head of the County Government and shall 

be responsible for the administration of all the departments of the County Government 

which the Council has the authority to control. 

A. The Administrator shall be employed with regard to executive and administrative 

qualifications only, and need not be a resident of the County at the time of 

employment. However, the Administrator must establish residency in Pickens 

County within a period of one year following the effective date of employment. 

The term of employment of the Administrator shall be at the pleasure of the 

Council and he/she shall be entitled to such compensation for his services as the 

Council may determine. The Council may, in its discretion, employ the Administrator for 

a definite term, not to exceed the term of the Council as then constituted. 

B. Powers and Duties: The powers and duties of the Administrator shall include, but 

not be limited to the following: 

1. to serve as the chief administrative officer of the County Government; 

2. to execute the policies, directives, and legislative actions of the Council; 

3. to direct and coordinate operational agencies and administrative activities 

of the County Government; 

4. to prepare annual operating and capital improvement budgets for 

submission to the Council and in the exercise of these responsibilities the 

Administrator shall be empowered to require such reports, estimates and 

statistics on an annual or periodic basis as the Administrator deems 

necessary from all County departments and agencies; 

5. to supervise the expenditure of appropriated funds; 

6. to prepare annual, monthly and other reports for Council on finances and 

administrative activities of the County, 

7. to be responsible for the administration of County personnel policies, 

including salary and classification plans approved by Council, 

8. to be responsible for employment and discharge of personnel subject to 

the provisions of subsection (7) of Section 4-9-30 of the 1976 South 

Carolina Code of Laws, as amended, and subject to the appropriation of 

funds by the Council for that purpose; 

9. to perform such other duties as may be directed by the Council. 

C. Review: The County Administrator shall be evaluated annually during the month 

of December by the members of County Council. This process will be 

accomplished by the County Administrator and members of County Council, 

concluding with an executive session conference between these individuals to 

review performance and establish goals for the following year. 

D. Authority over Elected Officials: With the exception of organizational policies 

established by the Council, the County Administrator shall exercise no authority 



6  

over any elected officials of the County whose offices were created either by 

Constitution or by the general law of the state. 

E. Council to Deal with Employees through Administrator: Except for the purposes 

of formal inquiries and investigations, conducted by Council as a whole or a duly 

authorized committee thereof, the Council shall deal with County officers and 

employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the County 

Administrator solely through the Administrator, and neither the Council nor any 

of its members shall give orders or instructions to any such officers or employees. 

F. During the extended absence or disability of the County Administrator the Council 

shall designate another person to serve as Acting County Administrator. 

G. If the Council determines to remove the County Administrator, the Administrator 

shall be given a written statement of the reasons alleged for the proposed removal 

and the right to a hearing thereon at a public meeting of the Council. Within five 

(5) days after the notice of removal is delivered to the Administrator, the 

Administrator may file with the Council a written request for a public hearing. 

This hearing shall be held at a Council meeting not earlier than twenty (20) days 

nor later than thirty (30) days after the request is filed. The Administrator may 

file with the Council a written reply not later than five (5) days before the hearing. 

The removal shall be stayed pending the decision after the public hearing. 

2.3 Clerk to Council: The Council shall appoint a person, not a member of the Council, to 

serve as Clerk. This person shall report to County Council and be subject to annual review by 

Council on the employment anniversary, provided however that Council may delegate this 

authority to the Chair and/or County Administrator. Regardless, the Clerk will follow the 

same personnel rules and procedures as all other county employees. The Clerk will: 

A. record all proceedings of the Council; 

B. deliver copies of the minutes of each Council meeting to all members prior to the 

next regular Council meeting, 

C. keep the minutes of all committee meetings, 

D. keep a register of all proposed Ordinances and Resolutions, assigning them a 

number and arranging them in order of introduction; 

E. render any needed assistance to members of the Council in preparation of reports, 

recommendations, ordinances, resolutions, directives and correspondence, and 

F. assist the Administrator in the performance of duties as it relates to County Council. 

G. In the event a member of Council sends or requests information of the Clerk or the 

Administrator, that information is to be provided to all Members of Council in the 

most timely and efficient method practical. It is specifically provided for that this 

subsection is intended to assist the Clerk in the performance of duties and to prevent 

any council person from conduct in their individual capacity that would violate Rule 

2.2(E), Rule 3.5 herein, and/or any provisions of applicable state law. 



7  

2.4 Signatory Authority of County Officers 

A. The Council Chair shall sign the following on behalf of the County Council: 

1. Ordinances after approval by Council on 3rd Reading 

2. Resolutions after approval by Council 

3. Minutes of Council after approval by Council 

4. Proclamations 

5. Any document which asks for the signature of an “elected” representative of 

County 

6. Vice Chair to sign where Chair has conflict of interest 

7. Other (on case by case basis in consultation with County Attorney) 

B. Administrator shall sign the following on behalf of the County: 

1. Documents under Administrator’s authority 

a. Day to day managerial issues 

b. Expenditures under $5000.00 

c. Personnel issues 

d. Submissions to Council 

e. Grant applications for programs previously authorized by Council where 

application requires no match and no commitment for future funding 

2. Documents when specifically authorized by Council: 

a. Deeds, leases, and/or other conveyances of interest in real property 

b. Contracts / Memoranda of Understanding 

c. Grants and/or applications for Grants requiring a match or a commitment for 

future funding 

d. Settlements 

3. Chair to sign where Administrator has a conflict of interest 

4. Other (on case by case basis in consultation with County Attorney) 

C. Clerk to Council 

1. Minutes when submitted to Council 

2. As formal attestation to: 

a. Ordinances 

b. Resolutions 

3. As witness and/or notary on documents signed by Administrator and/or Chair 

4. Other (on case by case basis in consultation with County Attorney)



8  

 

RULE 3: ETHICS 

3.1 Conflict of Interest. A member of County Council or an Officer thereof should refrain 

from use of their official position to advance their private interests. 

A. Any member of Council, or immediate family thereof, who has a substantial 

financial interest in any business which contracts, or offers to contract, with the 

County for sale or lease of land, materials, supplies, equipment or services, or who 

personally engages in such matters, shall make known that interest and refrain 

from voting upon or otherwise participating in their capacity as a member of 

Council in matters related thereto. 

B. No member of Council, or immediate family thereof, and no business with which 

either is associated shall enter into any contract with a governmental agency or 

department which is to be paid in whole or in part out of government funds, unless 

the contract has been awarded through process of public notice and competitive 

bidding. 

C. For purposes of this Rule, “immediate family” shall mean spouse, child, 

grandchild, parent, grandparent, sibling, or spouse of a child, grandchild, parent, 

grandparent or sibling. 

3.2 Prohibited Acts. A member of County Council or an Officer thereof may not, directly 

or indirectly, knowingly ask, demand, exact, solicit, seek, accept, assign, receive, or agree to 

receive anything of value for himself or for another person in return for being: 

A. influenced in the discharge of his official responsibilities; 

B. influenced to commit, aid in committing, collude in, allow fraud, or make an 

opportunity for the commission of fraud on a governmental entity; 

C. induced to perform or fail to perform an act in violation of his official 

responsibilities. 

3.3 Representation. A member of County Council, an Officer thereof, or public employee 

of the county may not represent a person before an agency, committee, board, or commission 

of the county for which the member, officer, or employee has official responsibility, except 

as required by law. For purposes of this subsection, “represent” includes appearing and/or 

communicating on behalf or in support of a person before such a unit of county government. 



9  

3.4 Confidentiality. A member of County Council or an Officer thereof may not use or 

disclose confidential information gained in the course of or by reason of his official 

responsibilities in a way that would affect an economic interest held by him, a member of his 

immediate family, an individual with whom he is associated, or a business with which he is 

associated. Information received in the course of or by reason of official responsibilities, that 

may reasonably be deemed confidential in nature, shall not be disclosed to third parties 

unless otherwise required by law. 

3.5 Council to Act Collectively. As elected members of a corporate body, County Council 

members have no authority as individuals, and shall refrain from conduct that would suggest 

a supervisory or executory authority on behalf of the County. 

A. Council members only have authority when in a lawful, duly-noticed assembly of 

County Council or its component Committees. 

B. Members shall not bind, contract, obligate, or offer to bind, contract, or obligate the 

County in any matter whatsoever unless and until specifically authorized by full 

Council in a lawful meeting, duly noticed. 

C. Council to Deal with Employees through Administrator: Except for the purposes of 

formal inquiries and investigations, conducted by Council as a whole or a duly 

authorized committee thereof, the Council shall deal with County officers and 

employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the County 

Administrator solely through the Administrator, and neither the Council nor any of 

its members shall give orders or instructions to any such officers or employees. 

3.6 Public Meeting Requirements. Every meeting of County Council shall be open to the 

public unless closed pursuant to a specifically announced exception qualifying under the SC 

Freedom of Information Act (“SCFOIA”). 

A. Before going into executive session in a meeting, a motion, a second, and a positive 

vote shall be held in public on the question and when the vote is favorable, the Chair 

shall announce the specific purpose of the executive session. 

B. No chance meeting, social meeting, or electronic communication may be used in 

circumvention of the spirit of requirements of SCFOIA to act upon a matter over which 

council has supervision, control, jurisdiction, or advisory power.



10  

 

RULE 4: MEETINGS 

4.1 Meeting Schedule and Quorum. The Council shall hold a regular meeting at least 

once each month in accordance with the schedule adopted by Council. Special meetings may 

be called by the Chair, acting Chair, or majority of the Council, but no special meetings shall 

be held unless all members are notified 24 hours in advance of such meeting. A majority of 

the members of Council shall constitute a quorum. 

4.2 Meetings to be Open to the Public except Authorized Executive Sessions. All 

meetings of Council and Council Committees shall be open to the public except where 

authorized pursuant to Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-70, et seq. of the Code of 

Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. 

4.3 Agendas. County Council will conduct its meetings in accordance with an Agenda, to 

be published in advance of the meeting under the provisions of applicable law. 

A. The Council Agenda for any meeting thereof shall be approved by the 

Chairman of County Council. The Chairman and the Vice Chairman shall 

participate either in person, or telephonically, in a discussion setting 

the agenda. 

B. If a Member desires to place an item on the regular agenda this should 

be done by (2) members of Council sponsoring the item. The item 

should be sent to the Clerk nine (9) days prior to the regular meeting. 

All requested items will be automatically placed on the Consent Agenda 

for referral to the appropriate committee unless the Chairman chooses 

to move it for action. 

C. Council Agendas will be sent to Council Members by the Clerk to 

Council on the Tuesday prior to the Monday meeting date. 

D. Agenda Format: 

1. Invocation and Pledge 

2. Public Forum 

3. Approval of minutes 

4. Administrator’s Report 

5. Committee reports 

6. Council Correspondence 

7. Motion Period and new business (see Section E. below) 

8. Ordinances for First Reading/Resolutions 



11  

9. Ordinances for Second Reading 

10. Ordinances for Third Reading 

11. Other requested agenda items 

12. Consent Agenda 

13. Executive Session (as needed) 

14. Action on Executive Session Items (as needed) 

15. Appointments 

16. Adjourn 

E. Motion Period and new business. During this period, Council Members 

may introduce new ordinances, resolutions or propose that Council 

consider ideas for ordinances, resolutions or policy without prior 

notice having been given. During this period, a unanimous vote of 

Council on a motion to add a new item to the agenda would allow 

immediate action to be taken on that item, however any item for final 

action should be included on the published agenda so that the public is 

given appropriate notice; one dissenting vote or more would 

automatically refer the issue to the appropriate Council Committee for 

study. Council can add an issue to go to Committee during Motion 

Period with one motion and a majority rule. Matters previously 

considered by Council may be reconsidered by Council, and, also, any 

other motions appropriate under Robert's Rules of Order may be 

considered at this time. 

4.4 Conduct of Meetings 

A. Every meeting of the Council shall be opened with a public invocation and the 

Pledge of Allegiance. The public invocation referenced herein shall be made 

for the benefit of the public body, and shall be offered on a voluntary and 

rotating basis, at the beginning of the meeting, by one (1) of the members of 

the Council. 

B. Decorum in speaking: Every member, when about to speak, shall address 

himself to "Mr.", "Miss", "Mrs." "Madame" or Chairman", and, in speaking, shall 

avoid disrespect to the Council and any personalities; and he/she shall confine 

himself/herself to the question under consideration. 

C. The Chair, when addressed by a member, shall recognize the member by name, 

using appropriate title of "Mrs.", "Miss" "Madame", "Mr.", "Councilman" or 

"Councilwoman". The member who shall first be recognized shall be first 

heard; and if several shall address the Chairman at about the same time, the 

Chairman shall decide who is first to speak and shall recognize such member. 



12  

D. Requests to be heard: Should any person, group or organization request to be 

heard upon any matter at a regular or special meeting of Council, such person, 

group or organization should request the Clerk to Council to place such matter 

on the agenda for the meeting by 12:00 Noon at least seven (7) days prior to 

the date set for such meeting. This requirement may be waived only by 

unanimous consent of all members present in cases of great urgency if the 

matter is presented in writing and every member of the Council provided with 

a copy prior to the commencement of the meeting or as otherwise specified in 

the agenda. 

E. Council to conduct a public forum: The Council will host a public forum prior 

to the first regularly scheduled meeting of the month. This forum will 

commence at the time of the regular meeting time. Public Forum will be 

limited to 3minutes per participant at the discretion of the Chair. Also the 

entire public forum will not exceed 30 minutes, unless extended in the 

discretion of the Chair. Further, Paragraph F of this section shall not be 

construed to prevent any citizen from speaking during this time period. 

F. Matters not within the Council's jurisdiction: No matter shall be entered on the 

agenda or heard by the Council unless it is within the Council's authority or 

jurisdiction, provided, the Council may entertain requests that it make 

recommendations to other governmental bodies, departments or agencies. 

G. Recognition of persons: When any person or persons, including employees of 

the Council and of the County, are heard by the Council, that person or persons, 

when they have completed their presentation, shall be seated and no person 

or persons other than a member of the Council will be recognized to make any 

statement on such matter unless requested to do so by the Council or by any 

member of the Council through the Chair. 

H. The Chair has the right to ask an individual (s) to leave the council chambers 

if an individual is disruptive. Other council members may request the Chair to 

remove a disruptive individual, including members of council. If the Chair fails 

to act, other council members may call for a vote to remove disruptive parties. 

The Chair or other presiding officers of council may suspend the meeting if the 

meeting becomes disruptive to the point that business cannot be conducted in 

an orderly manner. 

I. Security at council meetings will be provided by sheriff deputies. Deputies will 

assist the Chair and/or council to take the necessary action to ensure an 

orderly and safe environment for citizens, staff, and council. In order to 

provide best practices for safety, oversized bags, duffels, and backpacks are 

not allowed in the council chambers. Pocketbooks are allowed, but may be 

subject to inspection.



13  

 

RULE 5: ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

5.1 No ordinance, resolution, Code or policy shall be passed or adopted unless at least a 

majority of the quorum of the Council shall have voted for its approval or passage. Similarly, 

no amendment to an ordinance, resolution, Code or policy shall be passed unless at least a 

majority of the quorum of the Council shall have voted for its approval or passage. 

5.2 Ordinances and Resolutions to be in Writing and Approved as to Form: All 

proposed ordinances and resolutions shall be in writing, either typed or printed, and in a 

sufficient number of copies for each member of the Council to be provided with copies 

thereof. Provided, however, that first reading of a proposed Ordinance may be in title only. 

Prior to final passage, all ordinances and resolutions shall be submitted to and approved by 

the County Attorney as to form and draftsmanship. 

5.3 Readings of Ordinances And Resolutions: If all members of Council are furnished 

with copies of a proposed ordinance or resolution, a verbatim reading thereof shall not be 

required unless such reading is specifically requested by a member. All ordinances, with the 

exception of emergency Ordinances as hereinafter set out, shall be read at three (3) public 

meetings of Council on three (3) separate days with an interval of not less than seven (7) 

days between the second and third readings. 

5.4 Introduction and required Readings Of Ordinances Or Resolutions: Any member 

or committee of Council may introduce an Ordinance for first reading at any regular meeting 

of the Council, and no advance notice of such introduction shall be required. At the first 

reading of an ordinance, the Ordinance can be referred by the Chair to an appropriate 

Committee unless reference shall be dispensed with by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote or 

unless the proposed ordinance was introduced by a Committee. 

5.5 Required Information: Each Ordinance will contain the following information in 

the upper right hand corner of the first page: 

A. Individual or organizations requesting Ordinance 

B. Reference to a State Statute, if applicable 

C. Department responsible for implementation 

5.6 Second and third readings: Committee reports on a proposed ordinance shall 

ordinarily be made at the next Consecutive regular meeting following introduction and first 

reading. Second reading may be deferred until the next consecutive regular meeting of the 

Council following the Committee report. At least one (1) day prior to the second reading of 

an ordinance, printed copies of the text of the ordinance and the committee report thereon 

shall be delivered to every member of the Council. After all amendments and privileged 

motions, if any, are disposed of, the question shall be, shall the ordinance receive second 



14  

reading. After the ordinance has been given second reading, it shall be given third reading on 

a subsequent regular public or special meeting of Council and amendments may be proffered 

on third reading the same as on second reading. After all amendments and privileged 

motions are disposed of, the question shall be the passage of the Ordinance. 

5.7 Public hearings. Public hearings, upon giving fifteen (15) days’ notice of the time and 

place of such hearing which shall be published in at least one (1) newspaper of general 

circulation in the County, shall be held before final, but not prior to first, reading of Council 

action to: 

A. Adopt annual operational and capital budgets, 

B. Make appropriations, including supplemental appropriations, 

C. Adopt building, housing, electrical, plumbing, gas and all other regulatory Codes 

involving penalties, 

D. Adopt zoning and Subdivision regulations; 

E. Levy taxes, and 

F. Sell, lease, or contract to sell or lease real property owned by the County. 

 
5.8 Adoption of resolutions: A resolution does not have the force and effect of law and 

may be adopted at any regular or special meeting of Council by majority vote of the members 

of Council. However, unless introduced by an appropriate committee, every resolution, upon 

introduction, may be referred to an appropriate committee unless reference shall be 

dispensed with by a majority vote of Council. A report of the Committee shall ordinarily be 

made on the next or special meeting and the resolution may be adopted by Council at that 

meeting or any subsequent regular or special meeting. Any resolution, which is up for 

adoption, may be amended. All amendments must be germane to the proposed resolution. 

After all amendments and privileged motions, if any, are dispensed with, the question shall 

be the adoption of the resolution. 

 

5.9 Resolutions to Name Facilities. A request for a resolution to name or re-name a 

County site, facility or structure in honor of an individual will require completion of an 

application with the following criteria: 1) Must have sponsorship of an organization, 2) Prove 

outstanding service to the community, and 3) Must be a resident of Pickens County. Upon a 

majority vote of the Pickens County Council, the application will be sent to the Planning 

Commission for approval. When the recommendation is concurred by the Planning 

Commission, Council will hold a public hearing and approval will take a unanimous vote of 

Council. 

 
5.10 Emergency ordinances: In accordance with Section 4-9-130 of the Code of Laws of 

South Carolina, 1976, as amended, Council may adopt emergency ordinances. An emergency 

ordinance shall be effective immediately upon its enactment without regard to any reading, 



15  

public hearing, publication requirements or public notice requirements. Emergency 

ordinances shall expire automatically as of the sixty-first (61) day following the date of 

enactment. Such ordinances, however, must deal with public emergencies affecting life, 

health, safety or the property of the people. Such ordinances shall not levy taxes, grant, renew 

or extend a franchise or impose or charge a service rate. Every emergency ordinance shall 

be designated as such and shall contain a declaration that an emergency exists and describe 

the emergency. Every emergency ordinance shall be enacted by the affirmative vote of at 

least two-thirds (2/3) of the members of Council present. 

 
5.11 DELETED 

5.12 Annual Appropriations Ordinance: Prior to the end of each calendar year County 

Council will adopt a budget Calendar to establish a schedule of steps to be Completed prior 

to the end of each fiscal year for the adoption of an annual appropriations ordinance for the 

fiscal year beginning July 1 each year. The total of the appropriations under such ordinance 

shall not exceed the total of anticipated County revenue from all sources as projected by the 

County Administrator. Such appropriations ordinance shall include a "contingent fund" to 

cover items of expenditures for which no express provision is made elsewhere in the 

ordinance. In the event County Council has significant changes to the budget ordinance after 

second reading and or public hearing, Council will hold a special public forum before third 

reading of said ordinance. 

5.13 Timing of Budget Requests. Other than as required by Rule 5.10, Council shall not 

act on any budget request outside of the time period established in its budget calendar, and 

any and all budget requests from outside agencies or organizations received after final 

reading on the annual appropriations ordinance shall be considered during the budget 

calendar for the following fiscal year. 

5.14 Binding Successor Council. Other than as required by Rule 5.10, after the occurrence 

of a general statewide election, council shall take no action expending county revenue other 

than that specifically authorized in the then-current fiscal year budget. 

5.15 Recall Of Ordinances, Resolutions or Items Of Business: Any ordinance, 

resolution or item of business which has been referred to a committee may be recalled by an 

affirmative vote of four (4) members of the Council. 

5.16 Effective Date of Ordinances And Resolutions: The effective date of each ordinance 

or resolution passed by the Council shall be on the day that the ordinance is given third 

reading or the date the resolution is adopted, unless the effective date of such ordinance or 

resolution is set out in the ordinance or resolution, 

5.17 Record of Ordinances and Resolutions: All proceedings of Council shall be 

recorded and all ordinances adopted by Council shall be compiled, indexed, codified, 



16  

published by title and made available to public inspection at the office of the Clerk of Council. 

The Clerk of Council shall maintain a permanent record of all ordinances adopted and shall 

furnish a Copy of Such record to the Clerk of Court for filing in that office.



17  

 

RULE 6: COMMITTEES 

6.1 The Council may be organized into standing Committees as set forth below and such 

other Committees as may be appointed from time to time by the Chair with the consent of 

One half (1/2) of the additional members of the Council. Each standing committee shall 

consist of three (3) members of the Council. 

6.2 Following each general election, the Chair of the Council may, at the Chair’s discretion, 

appoint standing committees of the Council. The Chair shall also appoint a member of each 

committee so established to serve as its Chair; but no member of the Council shall be 

appointed as Chairman of more than one (1) standing committee. Members of standing 

Committees shall serve for a term of two (2) years unless removed from Such Committee by 

the Chair with the consent of such member. No Council Member shall serve on more than (2) 

committees. 

A. Committee on Administration and Finance: Property assessment; taxation; 

appropriations, expenditures, collection, receipt and disbursement of County 

funds; budgeting and accounting methods and procedures; capital 

improvements, bonds and indebtedness; establishment of purchasing 

procedure; personnel policy and procedures relating to the selection, 

appointment, compensation, qualifications, tenure, seniority, retirement and 

other matters relating to County officials and employees. 

B. Committee on Public Service: Regulation of buildings, drainage and flood 

Control; County roads; right-of-way acquisition; Supervision of jail; 

Supervision of airport; parking and traffic Control; roadside appearance, 

garbage Collection and disposal, public utilities, County property. 

C. Committee on Justice and Public Safety: Legislation and legal matters; law 

enforcement; County Courts, public records, County Council rules and 

regulations; public safety; military affairs; fire protection; judicial 

administration and related matters. 

D. Committee on Education, Recreation, Health, Welfare and County 

Planning: County planning; land use; subdivision regulations; education, 

recreation, health; welfare; parks, playgrounds, museums and historic sites, 

libraries. 

6.3 Committee of the Whole. This Committee will follow the same rules as all 

Committees and will work on issues which are referred to Council as a whole. All actions 

which take place in the Committee of the Whole will go back to regular Council meetings 



18  

for approval. A detailed agenda log will be kept, and items will be referred to the Committee 

of the Whole during regular Council Meetings. The annual budget ordinance will be 

considered in this Committee unless otherwise directed to the Committee on Administration 

and Finance. 

6.4 Committee Meetings: Committee meetings shall be held on the call of the Chair 

of such committee upon three (3) days' notice of such meeting to each committee member, 

excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays. A quorum of each standing committee shall 

consist of a majority of its members. All committee reports and recommendations shall be 

delivered to the Clerk to Council by the Chair of such committee for presentation to the 

Council at its next regularly scheduled meeting. 

6.5 Agenda Logs: Committees shall maintain an agenda log of referred items. 

These items will remain on the agenda log for a period of one month following disposition. 

All items of business referred to Council committees that have not been reported back to 

Council for disposition by December of each year will be deleted from the Committee log, 

unless such item is retained by the unanimous Consent of the Council. Committee log items 

should be met upon within 60 days unless in-depth research, budget constraints, or other 

extenuating circumstances prohibit this timeline. Major topics of concern can be directed to 

the Committee of the Whole. 

6.6 Chair of Council to Be Member Of Standing Committees, Ex Officio. The Chair of 

the Council shall be a member of all standing committees, ex officio; provided, however, that, 

except in the case of the committee which he chairs, the Chair shall not be counted toward 

the determination of a quorum by such committee nor shall the Chair be entitled to vote on 

any matter before such committee. Further, any member of the Council is expressly invited 

to attend any Committee meeting and to express his or her opinion on any issues before that 

Committee, provided, that this does not enable such member to vote on any issue before that 

Committee. 

6.7 Chair of Council to Be Chair Of Committee Of Choice The Chair of the Council shall 

serve as Committee Chair of any one standing committee of choice, and shall be counted 

toward a quorum of such committee and shall be entitled to a vote on all matters before such 

committee. 



19  

 
 
 
 
 
 

RULE 7: BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 

7.1 Appointments to Boards and Commissions 

A. Any individual desiring to apply for appointment to a county board or 

commission should contact the Clerk to Council for an application, which 

should be submitted to the Clerk upon completion. The Clerk to Council 

will retain all such applications for consideration of Council as vacancies 

occur on boards and commissions. 

B.  Any resident of Pickens County is eligible for service on a county board or 

commission regardless of race, color, national origin, sex, age, disability or 

income. It is the policy of Pickens County to comply with all federal and 

state authorities requiring nondiscrimination, including but not limited to 

Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Restoration Act of 

1987, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Americans with 

Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), and the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 and 

Executive Order 12898 (Environmental Justice) and 13166 (Limited 

English Proficiency). 

C. The Clerk to Council will notify Council monthly of any and all vacancies 

occurring due to the end of terms of service, removals, and/or resignations, 

and provide Council with all applications submitted for any such vacancy 

or vacancies. 

 
7.2 Conduct for Boards and Commission 

A. Code of Conduct: An appointment to a board or commission is both a 

position of honor and trust. The citizens are best served when their duly- 

elected Council has the benefit of the energy and advice of various boards 

and commissions. Accordingly, members of boards and commissions 

should recognize and adhere to the following principles: 

i. No board member has supervisory or executive authority over any 

county employee, equipment, or other property. For example, no 

member of a county fire commission has the authority to direct fire 

personnel in the performance of day-to-day and/or emergency 

duties. 



20  

ii. A board or commission is empowered to act in an advisory role 

only, unless specifically authorized by state statute and/or county 

ordinance. 

iii. To the extent that a board or commission is authorized to take 

official action, such action is only appropriate when the board or 

commission is voting as a group during a publicly-noticed meeting 

of that board or commission. 

iv. A Board or Commission should communicate with other 

components of county government through the County 

Administrator and/or his designee. 

v. Board or commission members should abstain from voting in 

situations where their financial interest may be impacted by a 

proposal before them. 

vi. Board or commission members should not represent others before 

the board or commission on which they serve, or any other 

supervisory and/or dependent board thereof, including County 

Council. 

vii. Board or commission members should not accept gifts, cash, offers 

for free service and/or other impermissible benefits from 

individuals appearing before, or likely to appear before, a board or 

commission on which the member serves. 

viii. Board or commission members should resign their appointment 

prior to announcing or filing for candidacy for an elective office. 

ix. Board or commission members should avoid the appearance of 

impropriety in the conduct of their official and nonofficial duties. 

x. Board or commission members should avoid conduct, whether 

public or private, which reflects negatively on a board or 

commission, or on the county government as a whole. 

 
B. Removal: All members appointed by Council to boards and commissions 

serve at the pleasure of Council, and are subject to removal with or without 

cause. To the extent that a member of a board or commission is appointed 

to a fixed term, that member is subject to removal for cause shown (as 

hereinafter defined). Upon the expiration of any term of service, a member 

may remain in service on the board or commission until such time as the 

member's successor is appointed or until ninety 

(90) days after the expiration of the term, whichever may first occur, but 

such continued service is at the pleasure of Council, and such a member is 

subject to removal with or without cause. Upon the expiration of the 90 day 

post-term period provided for above, the board or commission 



21  

member’s term and appointment shall automatically cease without 

further action of County Council. 

 
C. "Removal for cause shown" is defined as removal of a member of a board 

or commission as is authorized by a positive vote of County Council. 

Circumstances warranting a removal for cause include, but are not limited 

to: 

i. embezzlement or misappropriation of public or trust funds to 

private use, 

ii. crimes of moral turpitude, 

iii. malfeasance or misfeasance, 

iv. incompetency, incapacity, absenteeism, or persistent neglect of 

duty in office, 

v. conflict of interest, 

vi. conduct that reflects negatively on the County and/or its citizens, 

vii. use of official position to advance a private religious, economic, or 

political interest. 

viii. violation of the Code of Conduct established herein. 

 
D. Notice of removal. The Clerk to Council, and or other designee of Council, 

will notify a member that is removed for cause in writing, and state in the 

correspondence the reason(s) for the removal. The written notice will also 

notify the board member that he or she must object to the removal for 

cause determination in writing within 10 days of notice thereof, with all 

appeals to be heard as council deems appropriate. 

 
7.3 Conduct of Meetings. All Board and Commissions will follow the Organizational 

Rules of Council for conducting meetings unless other rules have been approved by  Council. 



22  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Rule 8: PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE 

8.1 In all particulars not determined by these Rules or by applicable South Carolina law, 

the Chair or other presiding officer shall be guided by the previous usage of Council or by 

parliamentary law and procedure as it may be collected from Robert's Rules of Order, Newly 

Revised. Provided that the adherence to Robert's Rules of Order shall not require  the Chair 

to relinquish the gavel prior to speaking on an issue. The Chair will be required to precede 

remarks with the phrase, "The Chair will recognize himself/herself to speak on  this issue." 

8.2 MAIN MOTION REQUIRED. In order for County Council to take official action on any 

subject, a Council member must first propose a main motion. A proposed main motion will 

not be allowed for discussion or vote by the chair until another council member agrees to 

second the motion. A second does not require the Council member seconding the motion to 

support the motion. A Council member may withdraw a main motion that he or she has made 

at any time before the council has voted on that motion. 

8.3 PROCEDURAL MOTIONS. During the course of debate, council members may 

introduce procedural motions. Procedural motions are used to facilitate the orderly 

discussion of business before County Council. As a general rule, privileged motions take 

precedence over Subsidiary and Recall motions; Subsidiary motions take precedence over 

Recall motions, with the Motion to Reconsider (a recall motion) being the single exception to 

the general rule. 

A. PRIVILEGED MOTIONS. The five privileged motions are the highest ranking 

group of procedural motions, with the Motion to Adjourn having the highest 

precedence of the group. Only the Motion to Reconsider has higher precedence. 

Privileged motions can be made at any time; the Motion to Adjourn, the Motion to 

Raise a Point of Privilege and the Motion to Convene an Executive Session can 

interrupt another member who has the floor. When making one of these three 

motions, the Council member should get the attention of the chair. The chair, 

interrupting anyone then speaking, recognizes the council member, who then 

states the motion. 



23  

1. Motion to Adjourn. An unqualified Motion to Adjourn is the highest ranking 

privileged motion and requires, if approved by a majority vote, that the 

meeting end immediately and reconvene at the next regularly scheduled or 

called meeting. As the highest ranking privileged motion, the Motion to 

Adjourn can be raised at any time, except when a vote is being taken or being 

counted, it can be interrupted only by the motion to reconsider; it can 

interrupt any person having the floor. The Motion to Adjourn cannot be 

amended, debated or reconsidered; it requires a majority for passage. Any 

qualification of the Motion to Adjourn (e.g. "I move that we adjourn in 45 

minutes," or "move that we adjourn and meet again next Thursday.") changes 

the status of this motion from a privileged motion to a main motion. 

2. Motion to Recede [Take a Recess]. A recess is a short intermission, taken 

immediately upon passage, following the recess, the meeting takes up at the 

same point where it was interrupted. The motion cannot be debated or 

reconsidered, but can be amended as to the duration of the recess, it requires 

a majority for passage. Also, the Motion to Recede is out of order if anyone has 

the floor or a vote is being taken or counted. Like the Motion to Adjourn, the 

Motion to Recede is privileged only if the recess is to be taken immediately, a 

Motion to Recede at some point in the future is a main motion. 

3. Motion to Raise a Question of Privilege. A Motion to Raise a Question of 

Privilege is a device to allow county Council to take up a matter for immediate 

consideration because of its urgency; it can interrupt any person having the 

floor. The motion cannot be amended, debated or reconsidered, but it can be 

appealed; it is generally ruled on by the chair, but a vote may be taken if the 

decision of the chair is appealed. If approved, what follows will  be a main 

motion taken Out of Order. Generally there are two types of questions of 

privilege-questions relating to the privilege of County Council, board or 

Commission, as a body, and questions of personal privilege, if the two come up 

together, a question of Council privilege should take precedence over a 

question of personal privilege. Questions of privilege of County Council usually 

relate to the comfort of the members of council or the public (e.g. council 

chambers are too hot, too cold or too noisy); to the conduct of Council 

members or visitors or members of the public, or to the accuracy of published 

reports, Care should be taken not to confuse this motion with the group to 

which it belongs (i.e., privileged motions). Many questions of privilege can be 

resolved by the chair (e.g. by having someone adjust the thermostat or 

demanding Order in the chamber). 

4. Motion to Convene an Executive Session. Executive sessions must be 

Convened and Conducted in accordance With the Freedom of Information  Act 

and may be convened only for one or more of the specific reasons 



24  

enumerated in the Act. A properly stated motion provides an appropriate 

reason for convening the executive session. If a valid reason is not stated, the 

chair may inquire or, if the reason is obvious, provide the reason when 

restating the motion. The reason for convening the executive session must be 

recorded in the minutes. The motion may be amended and debated with 

regard to Stating the appropriate reason or reasons for Convening the Session; 

however, it cannot be reconsidered. 

5. Motion to Follow the Agenda. Taking up business according to schedule or 

agenda is important. This motion is used to get a meeting back on schedule 

and is appropriate when the meeting has been allowed to digress or when a 

specific time scheduled for an item of business has arrived and the chair has 

failed to take notice. Once the motion is made, the chair must conform with the 

agenda or put the motion to a vote. The motion cannot be amended, debated 

or reconsidered; a two-thirds majority vote is required to overrule this 

motion. 

B. SUBSIDIARY MOTIONS. The six subsidiary motions help County Council reach a 

decision on other pending motions, usually a main motion. Subsidiary motions are 

always applied to another pending motion. All Subsidiary motions are Out of 

Order when another person has the floor. 

1. Motion to Lay on the Table [Motion to Table] or [Motion to Postpone 

Temporarily]. A Motion to Lay on the Table proposes that the consideration 

of a motion be postponed until a later time. It is an appropriate motion to take 

up a more pressing matter, out of order, and to return later to the tabled 

motion. The main motion can be brought back for consideration if a Motion to 

Recall is later passed by County Council. A motion that has been laid on the 

table will die if it has not been taken from the table by the close of the meeting 

following the meeting in which the motion was tabled. Amendments and 

debate are not allowed on a Motion to Lay On the Table and it cannot be 

reconsidered; it requires a majority vote for passage. The Motion to Lay on the 

Table is out of order if another speaker has the floor. The motion may properly 

be referred to as a "Motion to Lay on the Table," a "Motion to Table" or "Motion 

to Postpone Temporarily." 

2. Motion to Call the Question [Motion to Vote Immediately]. If passed, this 

motion Cuts off debate and forces an immediate Vote on the pending issue. The 

Motion to Call the Question is not debatable and a two-thirds majority is 

required for passage. The Motion to Call the Question can be applied to any 

motion requiring a vote. 

3. Motion to Limit (or Extend Limits of) Debate. Motions to Limit Debate or 

Motion to Extend the Limits of Debate change any time Constraints placed on 

the length of debate. The details of such motions are to be decided by the 



25  

council member making the motion. Either motion can be applied to any 

motion that is debatable (not just to main motions). Debate is not allowed on 

either motion and a two-thirds vote is required for passage. The motion can 

be amended as to the length of time limitation. 

4. Motion to Postpone (to a Time Certain). A Motion to Postpone and the Motion 

to Postpone to a Time Certain are appropriate when a council member 

believes that the pending main motion should not be considered until some 

point in the future. These motions are in order even though debate has already 

occurred on the motion. The Motion to Postpone to a Time Certain sets a 

particular time for the main motion to be considered again, which may be later 

in the same meeting, at a future meeting or upon the occurrence of a specified 

event or the issuance of a necessary report. The motion is debatable and can 

be amended as to the duration of postponement. If the motion sets the matter 

for a date and time certain, a two-thirds majority is required for passage; if the 

motion does not set a specific time for consideration, it is referred to simply as 

a Motion to Postpone and only a majority vote is required for passage, if the 

motion is set for time certain, the chair will bring the motion back to County 

Council for further Consideration at the specified time. 

5. Motion to Commit (Motion to Refer to Committee). The chair may refer any 

matter to a committee. If the chair does not refer a matter to a Committee and 

a Council member believes that further information or study is needed before 

the County Council can act on a matter, he or she can propose that it be 

referred to a committee or to a particular office in County government for 

further study. If an appropriate committee does not already exist, a special 

Committee can be formed as a part of the motion. A Motion to Commit should 

specify the date that the committee or department will report back to the 

board. If a special committee is formed, the chair will appoint its members and 

its chair. This motion is debatable and can be amended as to where the motion 

is to be committed and the date that the Committee will report back. The 

motion requires a majority for passage. 

6. Motion to Amend. A Motion to Amend is used to make a change to a pending 

motion. Amendments must be closely related to the original motion and must 

not change the nature of the motion that they amend. A Motion to Amend can 

itself be amended, but the Motion to Amend an amendment cannot. These 

rules are to be enforced by the chair. 

C. INCIDENTAL MOTIONS. Six incidental motions allow Council members to appeal 

rulings by the chair, raise points of order, question precedence of motions and 

raise objections which are incidental to the discussions at hand but do not directly 

relate to the main question under discussion. 



26  

1. Point of Order Motion. The Point of Order takes precedence over any 

question from which it arose. It yields to any privileged motion and a motion 

to lay the underlying question on the table. The Point of Order is not debatable 

(except that the chair may ask the member raising the point to explain it), is 

not amendable, and cannot be reconsidered. The Point of Order is in order 

when another person has the floor and can interrupt a person speaking, if the 

point genuinely requires attention at the time it is raised. Normally, the point 

is ruled on by the chair and no vote is taken, unless there is an appeal or the 

chair is in doubt. 

2. Appeal. The duties of the chair include making rulings on questions of 

parliamentary procedure. An Appeal is the vehicle available to members of 

Council who believe that the chair's ruling was erroneous. The Appeal is in 

order when another has the floor, but must be taken immediately after the 

ruling and is out of order if other business has intervened. It is debatable 

unless the underlying question is not debatable or if the Appeal relates to 

decorum or priority of business, it is not amendable. The decision of the chair 

stands unless reversed by a majority of the members, the chair may vote to 

create a tie and thus sustain the ruling. An Appeal takes precedence over any 

pending question at the time the chair makes the ruling. It yields to all 

privileged motions, incidental motions arising from itself and, if debatable, to 

the following subsidiary motions: Motion to Limit or Extend Debate, Motion to 

Call the Question Vote immediately, Motion to Commit, Motion to Postpone (to 

a Time Certain) and the Motion to Lay on the Table. If debatable, each member 

may speak only once, except the chair. Also, if a member disagrees with the 

ruling of the chair, he or she should not hesitate to appeal. Appealing a decision 

is no more delicate than disagreeing with another member in debate. In close 

questions of parliamentary procedure on an important issue, the chair may 

welcome an appeal. 

3. Motion to Suspend the Rules. The Motion to Suspend the Rules allows 

County Council to do something it could not ordinarily do without violating 

one or more of its regular rules. The motion cannot be used to suspend a rule 

in violation of state or federal law, nor can the Suspension violate a 

fundamental rule of procedural law. When a matter is pending, this motion 

takes precedence over any other motion, if it applies to the pending matter of 

business. No Subsidiary motion can be applied to this motion. It is Out of Order 

when another Council member has the floor; it is not debatable, not amendable 

and cannot be reconsidered. It requires a two-thirds majority vote for passage. 

It is not necessary to state the rule to be suspended when making the motion, 

but the purpose for the suspension should be stated (e.g. "Mr. Chair, I move to 

Suspend the rules to take up, Out of Order, the matter 



27  

of..."). The Motion to Suspend has such potential for abuse that the chair must 

be aware of and must be quick to preclude not only the abuse itself, but also 

the appearance of abuse. 

4. Motion to Divide the Question. This Motion allows members of County 

Council to require a question dealing with a single subject to be divided into 

parts and to have each part considered and voted on separately, but only if 

each part is capable of standing alone. This motion is not debatable, cannot be 

reconsidered and requires a majority Vote for passage. It is amendable only 

with regard to how the question should be divided. This motion is out of order 

when another has the floor. It takes precedence over the main motion. If 

applied to an amendment, it takes precedence over the amendment; but it 

cannot be made to the underlying matter with an amendment pending. It 

yields to all privileged motions, to all applicable incidental motions and to all 

subsidiary motions with the following exceptions: Motion to Amend and 

Motion to Limit (or Extend) Debate. 

5. Motion to Consider by Paragraph/Motion to Consider by Section. Allows 

County Council to break down complex proposals into their component parts 

and to consider, debate and amend each paragraph or section separately. This 

procedure can be applied by the chair on its own initiative or by the Council 

following the adoption of a motion by any member. These motions are not 

debatable, cannot be reconsidered and require a majority vote for passage. 

They are amendable only with regard to how the question should be divided. 

These motions are out of order when another has the floor. They take 

precedence over the main motion, if applied to an amendment, they take 

precedence, but cannot be made to the main motion with an amendment 

pending, They yield to all privileged motions, to all applicable incidental 

motions and to all subsidiary motions with the following exceptions: Motion 

to Amend and Motion to Limit (or Extend) Debate. 

6. Requests and Inquiries. From time to time, Council members may need 

additional background information or may wish to provide such information, 

so that the council can understand better the issue under discussion. Requests 

and Inquiries provide the vehicle for exchanging this information. Requests 

and Inquiries, which all share similar characteristics and procedural 

requirements, can be subdivided into the following categories: 

a. Parliamentary Inquiry. Such inquiries are always directed to and answered 

by the chair and are used to clarify specific parliamentary or organization 

rules that have bearing on the issue at hand. 

b. Point of information. This inquiry is addressed to the chair or to another 

member through the chair, for information relevant to the business at 

hand, but not related to parliamentary procedure. 



28  

c. Reading of Papers. No member of Council has the right to read or have 

another person read from any papers or books as part of that member's 

debate on any matter without unanimous consent of the other members of 

council. Even So, it is Customary to grant leave to members to read short, 

pertinent printed matter, so long as the privilege is not abused. 

d. Any Other Privilege 

D. RECALL MOTIONS. Two recall motions allow issues to be brought back to the 

County Council that have been previously disposed of or assigned to committee. 

1. Motion to Reconsider. The motion to reconsider allows county Council to 

debate whether or not to overturn a decision made at the meeting that is in 

progress or at the immediately preceding meeting provided, however, that 

third reading to an ordinance may be reconsidered only at the same meeting 

in which the third reading was adopted. Furthermore, if the matter to be 

reconsidered was the adoption of a resolution that has already been published 

or acted upon, the motion is out or order. The Motion to Reconsider allows 

County Council to consider new information that may affect the decision that 

has already been made. Any Council member who voted on the prevailing side 

can make a Motion to Reconsider. The motion is debatable if the matter to be 

reconsidered is debatable, but it cannot be amended. A majority vote is 

required for the motion to pass. The Motion to Reconsider, itself, cannot be 

reconsidered, if the Motion to Reconsider is agreed to, the original decision 

will be voided and the board will return to debate and vote again on the 

original motion. Subject to the one or two meeting restriction, indicated above, 

the Motion to Reconsider can be made at any time, taking precedence over any 

other motion and yielding to nothing. The Motion to Reconsider is out of order 

when another person has the floor. Once the Motion to Reconsider is made, the 

consideration of the motion takes the priority of the motion to be 

reconsidered, but has precedence Over any new motion of equal rank. A 

Motion to Reconsider temporarily suspends any action growing out of the 

motion to be reconsidered. If the Motion to Reconsider is made but not 

considered immediately, any member can call up the motion by bringing it to 

the attention of Council at any time consideration of the motion would be in 

order. The unusually high precedence of this motion grows out of the short 

window of opportunity to raise the issue. Once the motion is made, its 

consideration reverts to a much lower precedence, with the fate of the 

underlying issue being held in abeyance until the Motion to Reconsider can be 

decided. 

2. Motion to Recall from the Table (from Committee). The two Motions to 

Recall allow the County Council to consider a question that has been laid on 



29  

the table or that has been assigned to a Committee. The motions take 

precedence over nothing and must be made when no other business is 

pending. The motions are not debatable or amendable. A motion that is not 

recalled by the close of the meeting following the meeting in which it was 

tabled is dead. 

E. UNANIMOUS CONSENT. Business can be expedited greatly by avoiding the 

formality of motions and voting for routine business and on questions of little 

importance, the chair assuming general (unanimous) consent until a member objects. 

Thus, in the case of approving the minutes, the chair inquires if there are any 

corrections, and, if one is suggested, it is made: when no correction [or no further 

correction] is suggested, the chair says: "There being no corrections [or no further 

corrections] the minutes stand approved." While routine and minor matters can be 

rapidly disposed of in this way, if at any time objection is made with reasonable 

promptness, the chair ignores what has been done in that case even if he has 

announced the result, and shall then require a regular vote 


